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Iain Massey
Chair

This year, we have seen the departure of directors 
Jenny Green and Marion Behiels.  I extend to 
them both the Board’s collective thanks for their 
diligent work over many years.  I will miss their 
contributions.

As I write, we are down to four directors, which is 
light-on to do full justice to the Board’s workload, 
including Board Committees.  Recruitment is 
underway to get back up to our optimum strength of 
7-8 directors.

We’ve also engaged some outside assistance 
this year, to help us improve the productivity and 
effectiveness of our work as a Board, and to help 
us identify the ideal characteristics of our future 
directors.

But of course, the biggest news of 2020 doesn’t 
even need naming – you all know how pervasive 
the effects of the pandemic have been.  I’m pleased 
and proud to note how well our team, and our 
participants, have dealt with the dislocation.  Our 
employees rapidly adapted to the “new normal” of 
remote working.  Our executive team were both 
diligent and agile in simultaneously keeping up our 
services to participants, looking after our staff, and 
conserving our financial resources.

The job market collapsed, but we managed to 
continue serving our client communities, and as our 
world adjusts, we have been able to resume placing 
people in employment.  Indeed, we are helping 
more people now than before.

I warmly congratulate our entire team on a smooth 
and confident adaptation to an entirely new threat.  
COVID-19 may not have finished with us yet, and 
there will be other disruptions to come.  But we 
now know that Forrest Personnel can respond with 
flexibility and resilience.

A theme that has emerged strongly from this time 
of closed borders and overturned assumptions is 
the importance of local.  Well, that’s us.  One of 
our great strengths is our integration with local 
communities and our relationships with local 
employers.  In the coming year we will ramp up our 
proactive engagement with employers.  We have a 
lot to offer them.

Iain Massey
Chair
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It’s difficult not to reflect on the year thats just 
been without thinking about COVID-19 and how 
it has affected us.  It has presented us with both 
opportunities and challenges.  I’m confident to say 
that none of us have ever experienced anything like 
it, but with the onset of the virus and restrictions, 
I’m very proud of the way we adjusted our efforts.  

We focused on remaining connected to our clients 
and communities and launched the ‘We’re Here to 
Help Campaign’.  This involved our team members 
contacting anyone we thought may have needed our 
help to provide information.  We worked extra hard 
to make sure we reached out and let people know 
we were staying true to our purpose to support more 
people to make the most of their abilities.  Our focus 
didn’t waver from supporting people to find and  
keep jobs.  

During this period, some industries had higher than 
normal demand for workers and others went quiet 
for a while.  All along, we focused on doing the best 
possible job of preparing people for work so that 
when opportunities became available, they were 
right there and ready.  

Thankfully, the year wasn’t all about COVID-19.  In 
fact, it was just one small part.  We started out by 
looking at ways to extend our mission by bringing 
new services to our client base and community.  We 
grew our partnership with Woolworths by securing 
extra trolley collection services in some of our 
regional centres.  We were successful in getting an 
Information, Linkages and Capacity Building (ILC) 
grant to develop a portal to house training packages 
and resources to encourage organisations to be 
more aware of the benefits of diversity  
in a workplace.  

Our team focused on providing an excellent 
customer experience and how we can get more 
people with health conditions, disability and injuries, 
as well as employers, to choose Forrest Personnel 
as their partner to find and keep jobs.  I enjoyed 
the opportunity to visit our sites to talk with our 
teams about what it means to be a local charity 
that specialises in supporting people with health 
conditions, injuries or disabilities to find  
and keep jobs.

We have spent time refreshing our strategy for the 
next three years and I look forward to getting out to 
all of our sites to talk about how we’ll be focusing on 
our strategic pillars of:

• A culture of engagement and performance;
• A strong and sustainable core business;
• Diverse and scalable revenue streams;
• Customer focused; and 
• Technology enabled.

Our key objectives for FY 20/21 include:

• To be financially strong and sustainable;
• Improving star ratings in Disability  

Employment Services;
• Developing a revenue diversification and  

growth plan;
• Developing a digital transformation plan;
• Delivering an employee engagement and 

performance plan.

Many thanks to the Forrest Personnel team who’ve 
been adaptable, imaginative and showed that you 
can be fierce advocates for people with disability 
wherever you’re working.  Thanks to the Board and 
the Executive Management Team for their support 
over a year where we were all called upon to look at 
things quite differently.  I’d like to thank our fantastic 
team who work with our job seekers, employers and 
community members every day.  Many thanks to the 
people who choose to work with Forrest Personnel 
to find jobs or employees – I’m so pleased that our 
community is embracing our vision of a world where 
no ability is wasted and enjoying the benefits that 
diversity brings to their organisations.

Anna Bagshaw
Chief Executive Officer

Anna Bagshaw 
CEO

CEO’s Update 2019 - 2020
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Forrest Personnel Ltd 
ABN 16 407 737 173 
Financial report for the year ended 30 June 2020 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
The directors present this report on the company for the financial year ended 30 June 2020. 

Directors 
The names of each person who has been a director during the year and to the date of this report are: 

 Iain Massey (Chairman) 

 Karl Depiazzi (Deputy Chairperson) 

 Jenny Green (resigned 13 November 2019) 

 Marion Behiels (resigned 24 April 2020) 

 Lyn Harding  

 David Timmel 

Directors have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report unless otherwise 
stated. 

Principal Activities 
Forrest Personnel Ltd enriches lives by finding work for people with a health condition, injury, or disability 
so they can use their abilities to achieve life goals.  

Short-term and Long-term Objectives 
The company’s short-term objectives are to: 

– Provide excellent customer experience to attract and retain participants. 

– Be the provider and employer of choice by engaging stakeholders to employ individuals with a 
medical condition or disability. Acknowledging the skills and abilities that people with a medical 
condition or disability bring to a business, as one in five Australians have some type of disability or 
health condition.  

The company’s long-term objectives are to: 

– Diversify revenue streams; 

– Be sustainable; and  

– Help more people. 

Strategies 

To achieve its stated objectives, the company has adopted the following strategies: 

– Customer service training to be delivered to all staff.  

– Development of a Marketing Engagement plan. 

– Culture Development plan. 

Key Performance Measures 

The company measures its own performance through the use of both quantitative and qualitative 
benchmarks.  The benchmarks are used by the directors to assess the financial sustainability of the 
company and whether the company’s short-term and long-term objectives are being achieved. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
Information on Directors 
Iain Massey  – Chairperson 

Qualifications – 
– 

Graduate Diploma of Management – UWA 
Graduate Diploma of Computer Science - Curtin 

Experience – 
– 
– 

Member of Australian Institute of Company Directors 
Associate Fellow of Australian Institute of Management 
15+ years’ experience working with medium and large 
companies to improve their processes, governance, risk 
management, strategy and succession planning. 

Karl Depiazzi – Deputy Chairperson 

Qualifications – 
– 

Double Major in Accounting and Public Practice from Edith 
Cowan University 
Certified Practicing Accountant 

Experience – 17+ years in executive management experience in both not for 
profit and large corporate environments 

Jenny Green  – Director  

Qualifications – Bachelor of Applied Science (Psychology) 

 – Graduate Diploma in Psychology (Counselling) 

 – Registered Psychologist  

Experience – Extensive experience working in the areas of vocational 
rehabilitation and return to work injury management in both 
government and private sectors. 

Marion Behiels – Director  

Qualifications – Diploma of Teaching  

 – Bachelor of Education  

 – Qualified Workplace Trainer and Assessor  

Experience – 30+ years’ experience teaching, including a variety of roles such 
as special needs, vocational and careers, and pastoral care. 

David Timmel – Director  

Qualifications  – Graduate of the Advanced Management Program at Harvard 
University  

Experience  – 30+ years’ experience in the Financial Services, Agribusiness, 
Recruitment and Property Management sectors 

Lyn Harding  – Director  

Qualifications – Fellow, Australian Institute of Company Directors 

 – Fellow, Certified Practicing Accountant  

 – WA Chair, The Executive Connection  

 
Experience 

– Bachelor of Business (Accounting), Edith Cowan University  
20+ years’ experience in health care sector and has a portfolio 
career made up of non-executive directorships, own 
consultancy and coaching business, advisory board member, 
Chair of a major Private Ancillary Fund, voluntary work and 
advocacy. Experience in: public accounting, ASX100, not for 
profit and SME organisations.  
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Forrest Personnel Ltd 

ABN 16 407 737 173 
DIRECTORS' REPORT 

Meetings of Directors 

During the financial year, 10 meetings of directors were held. Attendances by each director were as 
follows: 

lain Massey 

Karl Depiazzi 

Marion Behiels 

Jenny Green 

Lyn Harding 

David Timmel 

Directors' Meetings 

Number eligible to attend Number attended 

10 

10 
7 

4 

10 

10 

8 

10 

6 

1 

10 

9 

The company is incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001 and is a company limited by guarantee. If 
the company is wound up, the constitution states that each member is required to contribute a maximum of 
$1 each towards meeting any outstanding obligations of the company. At 30 June 2020, the total amount 
that members of the company are liable to contribute if the company is wound up is $89 (2019: $89). 

Director 

Director 

Dated this day of October 2020 

Pa�Je 3 of 35 

14th
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 
ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 Note 2020 2019 
  $ $ 
Revenue 2 9,804,849 7,577,447 

Other income 2 840,206 155,285 

Employee benefits expense  (6,144,900) (5,214,242) 

Depreciation and amortisation expense 8,9 (382,730) (292,722) 

Motor vehicle expenses  (194,888) (226,662) 

Occupancy expenses   (348,648) (463,568) 

Administration expenses   (919,393) (681,683) 

Other expenses   (173,802) (223,030) 

  2,480,694 630,825 

Loss on revaluation of land 9 - (80,000) 

Loss on revaluation of buildings  9 - (56,997) 

  - (136,997) 

Net result for the year  2,480,694 493,828 

Other comprehensive income    

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:    

Changes in asset revaluation reserve  9 - (427,440) 

Total other comprehensive income for the year  - (427,440) 

Total comprehensive income for the year  2,480,694 66,388 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 30 JUNE 2020 

 Note 2020 2019 
  $ $ 
ASSETS    

CURRENT ASSETS     

Cash on hand 4 2,599,137 3,545,671 

Financial assets  5 2,978,178 - 

Accounts receivable and other debtors 6 611,823 522,810 

Other current assets 7 522,738 101,279 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS   6,711,876 4,169,760 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS     

Right-of-use assets  8 129,659 - 

Property, plant and equipment 9 3,659,642 3,665,536 

Intangibles 10 - - 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS   3,789,301 3,665,536 

TOTAL ASSETS  10,501,177 7,835,296 

LIABILITIES    

CURRENT LIABILITIES     

Lease liability   78,455 - 

Accounts payable and other payables 11 1,123,546 1,104,811 

Employee provisions 12 389,329 357,287 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES   1,591,330 1,462,098 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES     

Lease liability   45,960 - 

Employee provisions  12 94,364 84,368 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES   140,324 84,368 

TOTAL LIABILITIES   1,731,654 1,546,466 

NET ASSETS  8,769,523 6,288,830 

EQUITY    

Retained surplus  8,769,523 6,288,830 

TOTAL EQUITY  8,769,523 6,288,830 

 
 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 
Note 

Retained 
Surplus 

Revaluation 
Surplus Total 

  $ $ $ 
Balance at 1 July 2018  5,795,002 427,440 6,222,442

   

Comprehensive income   

Surplus for the year attributable to members 
of the company  493,828 - 493,828

Other comprehensive income for the year  - (427,440) (427,440)

Total comprehensive income attributable 
to members of the company  

493,828 (427,440) 66,388

Balance at 30 June 2019  6,288,830 - 6,288,830

 
Balance at 1 July 2019  

 
6,288,830 - 6,288,830

Comprehensive income   

Surplus for the year attributable to members 
of the company  

2,480,694 - 2,480,694

Other comprehensive income for the year  - - -

Total comprehensive income attributable 
to members of the company  

2,480,694 - 2,480,694

Balance at 30 June 2020  8,769,523 - 8,769,523

 
 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 Note 2020 2019 
  $ $ 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    

Receipts from funding bodies and customers   10,029,273 7,972,001 

Payments to suppliers and employees  (7,716,697) (7,037,741) 

Interest received  45,838 46,751 

Net cash generated from operating activities 16 2,358,414 981,011 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  1,349,878 1,271,452 

Payment for property, plant and equipment 9 (1,594,277) (1,454,569) 

Net cash used in investing activities  (244,399) (183,117) 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    

Transfers to financial assets   (2,978,178) - 

Lease payments under adoption of AASB 16  (82,370) - 

Net cash used in financing activities   (3,060,548) - 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held  (946,533) 797,894 

Cash on hand at beginning of the financial year  3,545,670 2,747,777 

Cash on hand at end of the financial year 4 2,599,137 3,545,671 

 
 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

The financial statements cover Forrest Personnel Ltd as an individual company, incorporated and 
domiciled in Australia. Forrest Personnel Ltd is a company limited by guarantee. 

The financial statements were authorised for issue on 29 September 2020 by the directors of the company. 
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
Basis of Preparation  
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Corporations Act 
2001, the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations of the Australian Accounting Standards Board.  The company is a not-for-
profit company for financial reporting purposes under Australian Accounting Standards.  Material 
accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are presented below and have 
been consistently applied unless stated otherwise. 
The financial statements, except for the cash flow information, have been prepared on an accruals basis 
and are based on historical costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected 
non-current assets, financial assets and financial liabilities. The amounts presented in the financial 
statements have been rounded to the nearest dollar. 

Accounting Policies 
a. Revenue 
 Operating Grants, Donations and Bequests 

 When the company receives operating grant revenue, donations or bequests, it assesses whether 
the contract is enforceable and has sufficiently specific performance obligations in accordance to 
AASB 15, 

 When both these conditions are satisfied, the company: 
- identifies each performance obligation relating to the grant  
- recognises a contract liability for its obligations under the agreement 
- recognises revenue as it satisfies its performance obligations. 
Where the contract is not enforceable or does not have sufficiently specific performance 
obligations, the company: 
- recognises the asset received in accordance with the recognition requirements of other 
applicable accounting standards (eg AASB 9, AASB 16, AASB 116 and AASB 138) 
- recognises related amounts (being lease liability, financial instruments, provisions, revenue or 
contract liability arising from a contract with a customer) 
- recognises income immediately in profit or loss as the difference between the initial carrying 
amount of the asset and the related amount. 
If a contract liability is recognised as a related amount above, the company recognises income in 
profit or loss when or as it satisfies its obligations under the contract. 

 
b. Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities 

The company measures some of its assets and liabilities at fair value on either a recurring or non-
recurring basis, depending on the requirements of the applicable Accounting Standard.  

 Fair value is the price the company would receive to sell an asset or would have to pay to transfer 
a liability in an orderly (ie unforced) transaction between independent, knowledgeable and willing 
market participants at the measurement date.  

 As fair value is a market-based measure, the closest equivalent observable market pricing 
information is used to determine fair value. Adjustments to market values may be made having 
regard to the characteristics of the specific asset or liability. The fair values of assets and liabilities 
that are not traded in an active market are determined using one or more valuation techniques. 
These valuation techniques maximise, to the extent possible, the use of observable market data. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 

b. Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities (Cont.) 
 To the extent possible, market information is extracted from either the principal market for the 

asset or liability (ie the market with the greatest volume and level of activity for the asset or 
liability) or, in the absence of such a market, the most advantageous market available to the 
company at the end of the reporting period (ie the market that maximises the receipts from the 
sale of the asset or minimises the payments made to transfer the liability, after taking into account 
transaction costs and transport costs). 

 For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement also takes into account a market participant’s 
ability to use the asset in its highest and best use or to sell it to another market participant that 
would use the asset in its highest and best use.  

 The fair value of liabilities and the company’s own equity instruments (excluding those related to 
share-based payment arrangements) may be valued, where there is no observable market price in 
relation to the transfer of such financial instruments, by reference to observable market information 
where such instruments are held as assets. Where this information is not available, other valuation 
techniques are adopted and, where significant, are detailed in the respective note to the financial 
statements. 

c. Property, Plant and Equipment  
 Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value as indicated, less, 

where applicable, accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.  

 Freehold property 
 Freehold land and buildings are shown at their fair value based on periodic valuations by external 

independent valuers, less subsequent depreciation for buildings.  

 In periods when the freehold land and buildings are not subject to an independent valuation, the 
directors conduct directors’ valuations to ensure the carrying amount for the land and buildings is 
not materially different to the fair value. 

 Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of land and buildings are recognised in 
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the revaluation surplus in equity. Revaluation 
decreases that offset previous increases of the same class of assets shall be recognised in other 
comprehensive income under the heading of revaluation surplus. All other decreases are 
recognised in profit or loss. 

 Any accumulated depreciation at the date of the revaluation is eliminated against the gross 
carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. 

 Plant and equipment 
 Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis and are therefore carried at cost less 

accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. In the event the carrying 
amount of plant and equipment is greater than the estimated recoverable amount, the carrying 
amount is written down immediately to the estimated recoverable amount and impairment losses 
are recognised either in profit or loss or as a revaluation decrease if the impairment losses relate 
to a revalued asset. A formal assessment of recoverable amount is made when impairment 
indicators are present (refer to Note 1(f) for details of impairment). 

 Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, 
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will 
flow to the company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  All other repairs and 
maintenance are recognised as expenses in profit or loss in the financial period in which they are 
incurred.   

 Plant and equipment that have been contributed at no cost or for nominal cost are recognised at 
the fair value of the asset at the date it is acquired. 
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amount of plant and equipment is greater than the estimated recoverable amount, the carrying 
amount is written down immediately to the estimated recoverable amount and impairment losses 
are recognised either in profit or loss or as a revaluation decrease if the impairment losses relate 
to a revalued asset. A formal assessment of recoverable amount is made when impairment 
indicators are present (refer to Note 1(f) for details of impairment). 

 Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, 
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will 
flow to the company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  All other repairs and 
maintenance are recognised as expenses in profit or loss in the financial period in which they are 
incurred.   

 Plant and equipment that have been contributed at no cost or for nominal cost are recognised at 
the fair value of the asset at the date it is acquired. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 
c. Property, Plant and Equipment (Cont.) 
 Depreciation 
 The depreciable amount of all fixed assets, including buildings and capitalised lease assets, but 

excluding freehold land, is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the asset’s useful life to the 
company commencing from the time the asset is available for use. Leasehold improvements are 
depreciated over the shorter of either the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful 
lives of the improvements. 

 The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are:  

 Class of Fixed Asset Depreciation Rate 
 Buildings 2.5% 

 Plant and equipment 20 – 40% 

 The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end 
of each reporting period.  

 Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. 
These gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. When 
revalued assets are sold, amounts included in the revaluation surplus relating to that asset are 
transferred to retained surplus. 

d. Leases 
 The Company as lessee 

 At inception of a contract, the company assesses if the contract contains or is a lease. If there is a 
lease present, a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability is recognised by the 
company where the company is the lessee. However, all contracts that are classified as short-term 
leases (lease with remaining lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets are 
recognised as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.  

 Initially, the lease liability is measured at the present value of the lease payments still to be paid at 
commencement date. The lease payments are discounted at the interest rate implicit in the lease. 
If this rate cannot be readily determined, the company uses the incremental borrowing rate. 

 Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are as follows: 

 – fixed lease payments less any lease incentives; 

 – variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or 
rate at the commencement date; 

 – the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees; 

 – the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the 
options; 

 – lease payments under extension options if lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the 
options; and  

 – payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an 
option to terminate the lease 

 The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability as 
mentioned above, any lease payments made at or before the commencement date as well as any 
initial direct costs. The subsequent measurement of the right-of-use assets is at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 
e. Financial Instruments 
 Initial recognition and measurement 
 Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the company becomes a party to the 

contractual provisions to the instrument. For financial assets, this is the date that the company 
commits itself to either the purchase or sale of the asset (ie trade date accounting is adopted). 

 Financial instruments (except for trade receivables) are initially measured at fair value plus 
transaction costs except where the instrument is classified “at fair value through profit or loss”, in 
which case transaction costs are expensed to profit or loss immediately. Where available, quoted 
prices in an active market are used to determine fair value. In other circumstances, valuation 
techniques are adopted. 

 Trade receivables are initially measured at the transaction price if the trade receivables do not 
contain a significant financing component or if the practical expedient has been applied as 
specified in AASB 15.63. 

 Classification and subsequent measurement 
 Financial liabilities 

 Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at: 

 – amortised cost; or 

 – fair value through profit and loss. 

 A financial liability is measured at fair value through profit and loss if the financial liability is: 

 – a contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination to which AASB 3 
applies; 

 – held for trading; or 

 – Initially designated as at fair value through profit or loss. 

 All other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at fair value, amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised 
cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest expense in profit or loss over the relevant 
period. 

 The effective interest rate is the internal rate of return of the financial asset or liability. That is, it is 
the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash flows through the expected life of the 
instrument to the net carrying amount at initial recognition. 

 A financial liability is held for trading if it is: 

 – incurred for the purpose of repurchasing or repaying in the near term; 

 – part of a portfolio where there is an actual pattern of short-term profit taking; or 

 Any gains or losses arising on changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss to the extent 
that they are not part of a designated hedging relationship. 

 The change in fair value of the financial liability attributable to changes in the issuer's credit risk is 
taken to other comprehensive income and is not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. 
Instead, it is transferred to retained earnings upon derecognition of the financial liability. 

 If taking the change in credit risk in other comprehensive income enlarges or creates an 
accounting mismatch, then these gains or losses should be taken to profit or loss rather than other 
comprehensive income. 

 A financial liability cannot be reclassified. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 
e. Financial Instruments 
 Initial recognition and measurement 
 Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the company becomes a party to the 

contractual provisions to the instrument. For financial assets, this is the date that the company 
commits itself to either the purchase or sale of the asset (ie trade date accounting is adopted). 

 Financial instruments (except for trade receivables) are initially measured at fair value plus 
transaction costs except where the instrument is classified “at fair value through profit or loss”, in 
which case transaction costs are expensed to profit or loss immediately. Where available, quoted 
prices in an active market are used to determine fair value. In other circumstances, valuation 
techniques are adopted. 

 Trade receivables are initially measured at the transaction price if the trade receivables do not 
contain a significant financing component or if the practical expedient has been applied as 
specified in AASB 15.63. 

 Classification and subsequent measurement 
 Financial liabilities 

 Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at: 

 – amortised cost; or 

 – fair value through profit and loss. 

 A financial liability is measured at fair value through profit and loss if the financial liability is: 

 – a contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination to which AASB 3 
applies; 

 – held for trading; or 

 – Initially designated as at fair value through profit or loss. 

 All other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at fair value, amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised 
cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest expense in profit or loss over the relevant 
period. 

 The effective interest rate is the internal rate of return of the financial asset or liability. That is, it is 
the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash flows through the expected life of the 
instrument to the net carrying amount at initial recognition. 

 A financial liability is held for trading if it is: 

 – incurred for the purpose of repurchasing or repaying in the near term; 

 – part of a portfolio where there is an actual pattern of short-term profit taking; or 

 Any gains or losses arising on changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss to the extent 
that they are not part of a designated hedging relationship. 

 The change in fair value of the financial liability attributable to changes in the issuer's credit risk is 
taken to other comprehensive income and is not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. 
Instead, it is transferred to retained earnings upon derecognition of the financial liability. 

 If taking the change in credit risk in other comprehensive income enlarges or creates an 
accounting mismatch, then these gains or losses should be taken to profit or loss rather than other 
comprehensive income. 

 A financial liability cannot be reclassified. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 

e. Financial Instruments (Cont.) 
 Financial asset 

 Financial assets are subsequently measured at: 

 – amortised cost; 

 – fair value through other comprehensive income; or 

 – fair value through profit and loss 

 on the basis of the two primary criteria, being: 

 – the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset; and 

 – the business model for managing the financial assets. 

 A financial asset is subsequently measured at amortised cost when it meets the following 
conditions: 

 – the financial asset is managed solely to collect contractual cash flows; and 

 – the contractual terms within the financial asset give rise to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding on specified dates. 

 A financial asset is subsequently measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 
when it meets the following conditions: 

 – the contractual terms within the financial asset give rise to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding on specified dates; 
and 

 – the business model for managing the financial asset comprises both contractual cash flows 
collection and the selling of the financial asset. 

 By default, all other financial assets that do not meet the conditions of amortised cost and the fair 
value through other comprehensive income's measurement condition are subsequently measured 
at fair value through profit and loss. 

 The company initially designates financial instruments as measured at fair value through profit or 
loss if: 

 – it eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency (often 
referred to as “accounting mismatch”) that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or 
liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases; 

 – it is in accordance to the documented risk management or investment strategy and 
information about the groupings was documented appropriately, so the performance of the 
financial liability that was part of an company of financial liabilities or financial assets can 
be managed and evaluated consistently on a fair value basis; and 

 – it is a hybrid contract that contains an embedded derivative that significantly modifies the 
cash flows otherwise required by the contract. 

 The initial designation of the financial instruments to measure at fair value through profit and loss 
is a one-time option on initial classification and is irrevocable until the financial asset is 
derecognised. 

 Equity instruments 

 At initial recognition, as long as the equity instrument is not held for trading or is not a contingent 
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which AASB 3 applies, the 
company made an irrevocable election to measure the equity instruments in other comprehensive 
income, while the dividend revenue received on underlying equity instruments investment will still 
be recognised in profit and loss. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 
e. Financial Instruments (Cont.) 
 Derecognition 

 Derecognition refers to the removal of a previously recognised financial asset or financial liability 
from the statement of financial position. 

 Derecognition of financial liabilities 

 A liability is derecognised when it is extinguished (ie when the obligation in the contract is 
discharged, cancelled or expires). An exchange of an existing financial liability for a new one with 
substantially modified terms, or a substantial modification to the terms of a financial liability, is 
treated as an extinguishment of the existing liability and recognition of a new financial liability. 

 The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the 
consideration paid and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, 
is recognised in profit or loss. 

 Derecognition of financial assets 

 A financial asset is derecognised when the holder's contractual rights to its cash flows expires, or 
the asset is transferred in such a way that all the risks and rewards of ownership are substantially 
transferred. 

 All of the following criteria need to be satisfied for derecognition of a financial asset: 

 – the right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired or been transferred; 

 – all risk and rewards of ownership of the asset have been substantially transferred; and 

 – the company no longer controls the asset (ie it has no practical ability to make unilateral 
decisions to sell the asset to a third party). 

 On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the 
asset's carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in 
profit or loss. 

 On derecognition of a debt instrument classified as fair value through other comprehensive 
income, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve 
is reclassified to profit or loss. 

 On derecognition of an investment in equity which was elected to be classified under fair value 
through other comprehensive income, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the 
investments revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to retained 
earnings. 

 Impairment 
 The company recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on: 

 – financial assets that are measured at amortised cost or fair value through other 
comprehensive income; 

 – lease receivables; 

 – contract assets (eg amount due from customers under construction contracts); 

 – loan commitments that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss; and 

 – financial guarantee contracts that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

 Loss allowance is not recognised for: 

 – financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss; or 

 – equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. 

 Expected credit losses are the probability-weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected life 
of a financial instrument. A credit loss is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are 
due and all cash flows expected to be received, all discounted at the original effective interest rate 
of the financial instrument. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 
e. Financial Instruments (Cont.) 
 Derecognition 

 Derecognition refers to the removal of a previously recognised financial asset or financial liability 
from the statement of financial position. 

 Derecognition of financial liabilities 

 A liability is derecognised when it is extinguished (ie when the obligation in the contract is 
discharged, cancelled or expires). An exchange of an existing financial liability for a new one with 
substantially modified terms, or a substantial modification to the terms of a financial liability, is 
treated as an extinguishment of the existing liability and recognition of a new financial liability. 

 The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the 
consideration paid and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, 
is recognised in profit or loss. 

 Derecognition of financial assets 

 A financial asset is derecognised when the holder's contractual rights to its cash flows expires, or 
the asset is transferred in such a way that all the risks and rewards of ownership are substantially 
transferred. 

 All of the following criteria need to be satisfied for derecognition of a financial asset: 

 – the right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired or been transferred; 

 – all risk and rewards of ownership of the asset have been substantially transferred; and 

 – the company no longer controls the asset (ie it has no practical ability to make unilateral 
decisions to sell the asset to a third party). 

 On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the 
asset's carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in 
profit or loss. 

 On derecognition of a debt instrument classified as fair value through other comprehensive 
income, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve 
is reclassified to profit or loss. 

 On derecognition of an investment in equity which was elected to be classified under fair value 
through other comprehensive income, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the 
investments revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to retained 
earnings. 

 Impairment 
 The company recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on: 

 – financial assets that are measured at amortised cost or fair value through other 
comprehensive income; 

 – lease receivables; 

 – contract assets (eg amount due from customers under construction contracts); 

 – loan commitments that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss; and 

 – financial guarantee contracts that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

 Loss allowance is not recognised for: 

 – financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss; or 

 – equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. 

 Expected credit losses are the probability-weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected life 
of a financial instrument. A credit loss is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are 
due and all cash flows expected to be received, all discounted at the original effective interest rate 
of the financial instrument. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 

e. Financial Instruments (Cont.)  
 The company used the following approaches to impairment, as applicable under AASB 9: 

 – the general approach; 

 – the simplified approach; 

 – the purchased or originated credit impaired approach; and 

 – low credit risk operational simplification. 

 General approach 

 Under the general approach, at each reporting period, the company assessed whether the 
financial instruments are credit impaired, and if: 

 – the credit risk of the financial instrument increased significantly since initial recognition, the 
company measured the loss allowance of the financial instruments at an amount equal to 
the lifetime expected credit losses; and 

 – there was no significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the company 
measured the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to 12-month 
expected credit losses. 

 Simplified approach 

 The simplified approach does not require tracking of changes in credit risk in every reporting 
period, but instead requires the recognition of lifetime expected credit loss at all times. 

 This approach is applicable to: 

 – trade receivables; and 

 – lease receivables. 

 In measuring the expected credit loss, a provision matrix for trade receivables was used taking 
into consideration various data to get to an expected credit loss (ie diversity of its customer base, 
appropriate groupings of its historical loss experience, etc). 

 Purchased or originated credit-impaired approach 

 For a financial asset that is considered to be credit impaired (not on acquisition or originations), 
the company measured any change in its lifetime expected credit loss as the difference between 
the asset’s gross carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted 
at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. Any adjustment was recognised in profit or 
loss as an impairment gain or loss. 

 Evidence of credit impairment includes: 

 – significant financial difficulty of the issuer or borrower; 

 – a breach of contract (eg default or past due event); 

 – Where a lender has granted to the borrower a concession, due to the borrower's financial 
difficulty, that the lender would not otherwise consider; 

 – It is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; and 

 – the disappearance of an active market for the financial asset because of financial 
difficulties. 

 Low credit risk operational simplification approach 

 If a financial asset is determined to have low credit risk at the initial reporting date, the company 
assumed that the credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition and accordingly 
can continue to recognise a loss allowance of 12-month expected credit loss. 

 In order to make such determination that the financial asset has low credit risk, the company 
applied its internal credit risk ratings or other methodologies using a globally comparable definition 
of low credit risk. 
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NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 
e.         Financial Instruments (Cont.) 
 A financial asset is considered to have low credit risk if: 

 – there is a low risk of default by the borrower; 

 – the borrower has strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near 
term; and 

 – adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term, may, but not 
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. 

 A financial asset is not considered to carry low credit risk merely due to existence of collateral, or 
because a borrower has a lower risk of default than the risk inherent in the financial assets, or 
relative to the credit risk of the jurisdiction in which it operates. 

 Recognition of expected credit losses in financial statements 

 At each reporting date, the company completes a credit loss assessment and recognises the 
movement in the loss allowance as an impairment gain or loss in the statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income. 

 The carrying amount of financial assets measured at amortised cost includes the loss allowance 
relating to that asset. 

 Assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are recognised at fair value 
with changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income. An amount in relation to 
change in credit risk is transferred from other comprehensive income to profit or loss at every 
reporting period. 

 For financial assets that are unrecognised (eg loan commitments yet to be drawn, financial 
guarantees), a provision for loss allowance is created in the statement of financial position to 
recognise the loss allowance. 

f. Impairment of Assets 
 At the end of each reporting period, the company reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and 

intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have been 
impaired. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the 
asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use, is compared to the asset’s carrying 
amount. Any excess of the asset’s carrying amount over its recoverable amount is recognised in 
profit or loss.  

 Where the future economic benefits of the asset are not primarily dependent upon the asset’s 
ability to generate net cash inflows and when the company would, if deprived of the asset, replace 
its remaining future economic benefits, value in use is determined as the depreciated replacement 
cost of an asset.  

 Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an asset, the company estimates 
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

 Where an impairment loss on a revalued asset is identified, this is recognised against the 
revaluation surplus in respect of the same class of asset to the extent that the impairment loss 
does not exceed the amount in the revaluation surplus for that class of asset. 

g. Employee Provisions 
 Short-term employee provisions 

 Provision is made for the company’s obligation for short-term employee benefits. Short-term 
employee benefits are benefits (other than termination benefits) that are expected to be settled 
wholly before 12 months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees 
render the related service, including wages, salaries and sick leave. Short-term employee benefits 
are measured at the (undiscounted) amounts expected to be paid when the obligation is settled. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 
 

NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 
e.         Financial Instruments (Cont.) 
 A financial asset is considered to have low credit risk if: 

 – there is a low risk of default by the borrower; 

 – the borrower has strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near 
term; and 

 – adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term, may, but not 
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. 

 A financial asset is not considered to carry low credit risk merely due to existence of collateral, or 
because a borrower has a lower risk of default than the risk inherent in the financial assets, or 
relative to the credit risk of the jurisdiction in which it operates. 

 Recognition of expected credit losses in financial statements 

 At each reporting date, the company completes a credit loss assessment and recognises the 
movement in the loss allowance as an impairment gain or loss in the statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income. 

 The carrying amount of financial assets measured at amortised cost includes the loss allowance 
relating to that asset. 

 Assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are recognised at fair value 
with changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income. An amount in relation to 
change in credit risk is transferred from other comprehensive income to profit or loss at every 
reporting period. 

 For financial assets that are unrecognised (eg loan commitments yet to be drawn, financial 
guarantees), a provision for loss allowance is created in the statement of financial position to 
recognise the loss allowance. 

f. Impairment of Assets 
 At the end of each reporting period, the company reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and 

intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have been 
impaired. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the 
asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use, is compared to the asset’s carrying 
amount. Any excess of the asset’s carrying amount over its recoverable amount is recognised in 
profit or loss.  

 Where the future economic benefits of the asset are not primarily dependent upon the asset’s 
ability to generate net cash inflows and when the company would, if deprived of the asset, replace 
its remaining future economic benefits, value in use is determined as the depreciated replacement 
cost of an asset.  

 Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an asset, the company estimates 
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

 Where an impairment loss on a revalued asset is identified, this is recognised against the 
revaluation surplus in respect of the same class of asset to the extent that the impairment loss 
does not exceed the amount in the revaluation surplus for that class of asset. 

g. Employee Provisions 
 Short-term employee provisions 

 Provision is made for the company’s obligation for short-term employee benefits. Short-term 
employee benefits are benefits (other than termination benefits) that are expected to be settled 
wholly before 12 months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees 
render the related service, including wages, salaries and sick leave. Short-term employee benefits 
are measured at the (undiscounted) amounts expected to be paid when the obligation is settled. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 
g. Employee Provisions (Cont.) 
 Other long-term employee provisions 

 Provision is made for employees’ long service leave and annual leave entitlements not expected 
to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the 
employees render the related service. Other long-term employee benefits are measured at the 
present value of the expected future payments to be made to employees. Expected future 
payments incorporate anticipated future wage and salary levels, durations of service and 
employee departures, and are discounted at rates determined by reference to market yields at the 
end of the reporting period on government bonds that have maturity dates that approximate the 
terms of the obligations. Upon the remeasurement of obligations for other long-term employee 
benefits, the net change in the obligation is recognised in profit or loss as part of employee 
benefits expense.  

 The company’s obligations for long-term employee benefits are presented as non-current 
employee provisions in its statement of financial position, except where the company does not 
have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period, in which case the obligations are presented as current provisions.  

h. Cash and Cash Equivalents  
 Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at-call with banks, other short-

term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. 

i. Accounts Receivable and Other Debtors 
 Accounts receivable and other debtors include amounts due from customers.  Receivables 

expected to be collected within 12 months of the end of the reporting period are classified as 
current assets.  All other receivables are classified as non-current assets. 

 Accounts receivable are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method, less any provision for impairment. Refer to Note 1(f) for 
further discussion on the determination of impairment losses. 

j. Goods and Services Tax (GST) 
 Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the 

amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). 

 Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The 
net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included with other receivables or 
payables in the statement of financial position. 

 Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from 
investing or financing activities, which are recoverable from or payable to the ATO, are presented 
as operating cash flows included in receipts from customers or payments to suppliers. 

k. Income Tax 
 No provision for income tax has been raised as the company is exempt from income tax under 

Division 50 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997. 

l. Intangibles 
 Rebranding and website development costs  
 Rebranding and website development costs are recorded at cost, subsequently amortised over 

expected useful life and carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.  

m. Provisions 
 Provisions are recognised when the company has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of 

past events, for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow 
can be reliably measured. Provisions recognised represent the best estimate of the amounts 
required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 
n. Comparative Figures 
 Where required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform 

with changes in presentation for the current financial year. 

o. Accounts Payable and Other Payables 

 Accounts payable and other payables represent the liability outstanding at the end of the reporting 
period for goods and services received by the company during the reporting period which remain 
unpaid. The balance is recognised as a current liability with the amounts normally paid within 30 
days of recognition of the liability. 

p. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements  
 The directors evaluate estimates and judgements incorporated into the financial statements based 

on historical knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable 
expectation of future events and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both 
externally and within the company. 

 Key estimates 
 (i) Impairment 

  The freehold land and buildings were independently valued in February 2019. The valuation 
was based on fair value. The critical assumptions adopted in determining the valuation 
included the location of the land and buildings in the area and recent sales data for similar 
properties.  

  At 30 June 2020, the directors reviewed the key assumptions made by the valuers in 
February 2019. They have concluded that these assumptions remain materially unchanged, 
and are satisfied that carrying amount does not exceed the recoverable amount of land and 
buildings at 30 June 2020. 

 Key judgements 
 (i) Performance obligations under AASB 15 

  To identify a performance obligation under AASB 15, the promise must be sufficiently 
specific to be able to determine when the obligation is satisfied. Management exercises 
judgement to determine whether the promise is sufficiently specific by taking into account 
any conditions specified in the arrangement, explicit or implicit, regarding the promised 
goods or services. In making this assessment, management includes the nature/ type, cost/ 
value, quantity and the period of transfer related to the goods or services promised. 

 (ii) Lease term and Option to Extend under AASB 16 

  The lease term is defined as the non-cancellable period of a lease together with both 
periods covered by an option to extend the lease if the lessee is reasonably certain to 
exercise that option; and also periods covered by an option to terminate the lease if the 
lessee is reasonably certain not to exercise that option. The options that are reasonably 
going to be exercised is a key management judgement that the company will make. The 
company determines the likeliness to exercise the options on a lease-by-lease basis looking 
at various factors such as which assets are strategic and which are key to future strategy of 
the company. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 
n. Comparative Figures 
 Where required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform 

with changes in presentation for the current financial year. 

o. Accounts Payable and Other Payables 
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externally and within the company. 
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was based on fair value. The critical assumptions adopted in determining the valuation 
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and are satisfied that carrying amount does not exceed the recoverable amount of land and 
buildings at 30 June 2020. 

 Key judgements 
 (i) Performance obligations under AASB 15 

  To identify a performance obligation under AASB 15, the promise must be sufficiently 
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lessee is reasonably certain not to exercise that option. The options that are reasonably 
going to be exercised is a key management judgement that the company will make. The 
company determines the likeliness to exercise the options on a lease-by-lease basis looking 
at various factors such as which assets are strategic and which are key to future strategy of 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.) 

p. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements (Cont.)  
 iii) Employee benefits 

  For the purpose of measurement, AASB 119: Employee Benefits defines obligations for 
short-term employee benefits as obligations expected to be settled wholly before 12 months 
after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees render the related 
services. The company expects most employees will take their annual leave entitlements 
within 24 months of the reporting period in which they were earned, but this will not have a 
material impact on the amounts recognised in respect of obligations for employees’ leave 
entitlements. 

q. Economic Dependence 
 Forrest Personnel Ltd is dependent on the Department of Social Services for the majority of its 

revenue used to operate the business. At the date of this report, the Board of Directors has no 
reason to believe the Department will not continue to support Forrest Personnel Ltd. Funding with 
the Department of Social Services has been secured until 30 June 2023. 

r. New and Amended Accounting Policies Adopted by the Entity 

 Initial application of AASB 16 

 The company has adopted AASB 16 Leases retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially 
applying AASB 16 recognised at 1 July 2019. In accordance with AASB 16 the comparatives for 
the 2019 reporting period have not been restated. 

 The company has recognised a lease liability and right-of-use asset for all leases (with the 
exception of short-term and low value leases) recognised as operating leases under AASB 117 
Leases where the company is the lessee.  
The lease liabilities are measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments. A 
business lending commercial property rate as at 1 July 2019 was used to discount the lease 
payments. 

 The right of use assets for the remaining leases was measured and recognised in the statement of 
financial position as at 1 July 2019 by taking into consideration the lease liability, prepaid- and 
accrued lease payments previously recognised at 1 July 2019 (that are related to the lease). 

 The following practical expedients have been used by the company in applying AASB 16 for the 
first time: 

– for a portfolio of leases that have reasonably similar characteristics, a single discount rate 
has been applied; 

– leases that have remaining lease term of less than 12 months as at 1 July 2019 have been 
accounted for in the same was as short-term leases; 

 – the use of hindsight to determine lease terms on contracts that have options to extend or 
terminate; 

 – applying AASB 16 to leases previously identified as leases under AASB 117: Leases and 
Interpretation 4: Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease without 
reassessing whether they are, or contain, a lease at the date of initial application; and 

 – not applying AASB 16 to leases previously not identified as containing a lease under AASB 
117 and Interpretation 4. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 
 
NOTE 2: REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME     
  2020 2019 
  $ $ 
Revenue    

Operating revenue   9,759,011 7,530,696 

  9,759,011 7,530,696 

Other revenue:    

– interest received on investments   45,838 46,751 

   45,838 46,751 

Total revenue  9,804,849 7,577,447 

    

Other income    

– gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  55,310 51,071 

– rental income   97,454 95,348 

– government payments COVID-19  670,900 - 

– other   16,542 8,866 

Total other income  840,206 155,285 

Total revenue and other income  10,645,055 7,732,732 

 
NOTE 3: AUDITOR REMUNERATION 
  2020 2019 
  $ $ 
 Audit fees:    

 – audit services  18,700 18,350 

 
NOTE 4: CASH ON HAND  

   

  2020 2019 
  $ $ 
CURRENT    

Cash at bank – unrestricted  2,594,228 3,541,054 

Petty Cash and float   4,909 4,617 

Total cash on hand as stated in the statement of financial position 
and statement of cash flows 

17 2,599,137 3,545,671 

 
NOTE 5: FINANCIAL ASSETS  

   

  2020 2019 
  $ $ 
CURRENT    

Financial assets at amortised cost   2,978,178 - 

Total financial assets  17 2,978,178 - 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

NOTE 6: ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND OTHER DEBTORS 
 Note 2020 2019 
  $ $ 
CURRENT    

Accounts receivable  611,823 522,810 

Total current accounts receivable and other debtors 17 611,823 522,810 

 

a. Credit Risk 
 The main source of credit risk to the company is considered to relate to the class of assets 

described as “accounts receivable and other debtors”. 

 The following table details the company’s accounts receivable and other debtors exposed to credit 
risk (prior to collateral and other credit enhancements) with ageing analysis and impairment 
provided for thereon.  Amounts are considered as “past due” when the debt has not been settled 
within the terms and conditions agreed between the company and the customer or counterparty to 
the transaction. Receivables that are past due are assessed for impairment by ascertaining 
solvency of the debtors and are provided for where there are specific circumstances indicating that 
the debt may not be fully repaid to the company. 

 The balances of receivables that remain within initial trade terms (as detailed in the table below) are 
considered to be of high credit quality. 

  
Gross 

Amount 

Past Due 
and 

Impaired 

Past Due but Not Impaired 
(Days Overdue) 

Within 
Initial 
Trade 
Terms   < 30 31–60 61–90 > 90 

  $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

 2020        

 Accounts 
receivable 

611,823 - 553,316 8,645 4,459 45,403 611,823 

 Total 611,823 - 553,316 8,645 4,459 45,403 611,823 

         

 2019        

 Accounts 
receivable 

522,810 - 416,036 - - 106,774 522,810 

 Total 522,810 - 416,036 - - 106,774 522,810 

The company has completed a credit loss assessment and has deemed the loss carrying provision to be 
immaterial.  
 
NOTE 7: OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 
  2020 2019 
  $ $ 
Accrued income  362,775 2,663 

Prepayments   102,806 41,562 

Other current assets   57,157 57,054 

  522,738 101,279 
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NOTE 6: ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND OTHER DEBTORS 
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  $ $ 
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Impaired 
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(Days Overdue) 
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Initial 
Trade 
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receivable 

611,823 - 553,316 8,645 4,459 45,403 611,823 

 Total 611,823 - 553,316 8,645 4,459 45,403 611,823 
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 Accounts 
receivable 

522,810 - 416,036 - - 106,774 522,810 

 Total 522,810 - 416,036 - - 106,774 522,810 

The company has completed a credit loss assessment and has deemed the loss carrying provision to be 
immaterial.  
 
NOTE 7: OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 
  2020 2019 
  $ $ 
Accrued income  362,775 2,663 

Prepayments   102,806 41,562 

Other current assets   57,157 57,054 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 
NOTE 8: RIGHT OF USE ASSETS 
The company’s lease portfolio includes buildings. These leases have an average of 3 years as their lease 
term. 
1. Options to extend or terminate 
The option to extend or terminate are contained in several of the property leases of the company. These 
clauses provide the company opportunities to manage leases in order to align with its strategies. All of 
the extension or termination options are only exercisable by the company. The extension options or 
termination options which were probable to be exercised have been included in the calculation of the 
right of use asset 

i) AASB 16 related amounts recognised in the statement of financial position 

Right of use assets 2020  

 $  

Leased Building 206,792  

Accumulated depreciation (77,127)  

   

Total Right of use asset 129,659  

   

Movement in carrying amounts:   

Leased Buildings:   

Recognised on initial application of AASB 16 (previously 
classified as operating leases under AASB 117) 206,792  

Depreciation expense (77,127)  

Net carrying amount 129,659  

   

ii) AASB 16 related amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income 
 2020  

 $  

Depreciation charge related to right-of-use assets 77,127  

Interest expense on lease liabilities 7,737  

Short-term leases expense 178,308  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 
NOTE 8: RIGHT OF USE ASSETS 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

NOTE 9: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT     
  2020 2019 
  $ $ 
Land and Buildings    

Land at fair value  975,000 975,000 

Total land  975,000 975,000 

Buildings at fair value  1,717,899 1,715,000 

Accumulated depreciation  (51,129) (7,771) 

Total buildings  1,666,770 1,707,229 

Total land and buildings  2,641,770 2,682,229 

Plant and Equipment     

Plant and Equipment at cost   1,747,215 1,632,251 

Accumulated depreciation  (729,343) (648,944) 

Total plant and equipment   1,017,872 983,307 

Total property, plant and equipment  3,659,642 3,665,536 

 

Movements in Carrying Amounts 

Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning 
and the end of the current financial year: 
 Land and 

Buildings  
Plant and 

Equipment  
Total  

 $ $ $ 
2019    

Balance at the beginning of the year 3,305,206 983,301 4,288,507 

Additions at cost - 1,454,569 1,454,569 

Disposals/write offs  - (1,220,381) (1,220,381) 

Revaluations (564,437) - (564,437) 

Depreciation expense  (58,540) (234,182) (292,722) 

Carrying amount at the end of the year 2,682,229 983,307 3,665,536 

2020    

Balance at the beginning of the year  2,682,229 983,307 3,665,536 

Additions at cost  2,899 1,591,378 1,594,277 

Disposals/write offs  - (1,294,568) (1,294,568) 

Revaluations - - - 

Depreciation expense (43,358) (262,245) (305,603) 

Carrying amount at the end of the year 2,641,770 1,017,872 3,659,642 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 
NOTE 9: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT)    
Asset Revaluations 
The freehold land and buildings were independently valued in February 2019. The valuation resulted in a 
revaluation decrement of $484,437 on buildings and a revaluation decrement of $80,000 on land for the 
year ended 30 June 2019.  

At 30 June 2020 the directors reviewed the key assumptions made by the valuers in February 2019. They 
have concluded that these assumptions remain materially unchanged, and are satisfied that the carrying 
amount does not exceed the recoverable amount of land and buildings at 30 June 2020. 

Refer to Note 18 for detailed disclosures regarding the fair value measurement of the company’s freehold 
land and buildings. 

Land Covenant 
One land title of the company (Volume 1411, Folio 291) has a registered mortgage to National Australia 
Bank and a caveat by the Lotteries Commission.  
 
NOTE 10: INTANGIBLES 
  2020 2019 
  $ $ 
Rebranding Costs   16,900 16,900 

Accumulated amortisation  (16,900) (16,900) 

Website development costs   19,976 19,976 

Accumulated amortisation  (19,976) (19,976) 

Net carrying amount  - - 

    
NOTE 11: ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
 Note 2020 2019 
CURRENT  $ $ 
Accounts payable  84,508 173,911 

Service fees in advance   600,611 531,475 

Contract liability    85,438 219,979 

Other current payables  271,644 139,164 

GST liability  81,345 40,282 

 11a 1,123,546 1,104,811 

a. Financial liabilities at amortised cost classified as 
accounts payable and other payables  

   

 Accounts payable and other payables:    

 – total current  11 1,123,546 1,104,811 

 – total non-current  - - 

    1,123,546 1,104,811 

 Less GST liability  81,345 40,282 

 Financial liabilities as accounts payable and other payables 17 1,042,201 1,064,529 

 The average credit period on accounts payable and other payables (excluding GST payable) is 1 
month.  No interest is payable on outstanding payables during this period.   
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 
NOTE 9: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT)    
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 
 
NOTE 12: EMPLOYEE PROVISIONS  

 2020 2019 
 $ $ 

Opening balance  441,655 637,512 

Additional provisions raised during the year 505,591 273,641 

Amounts used (463,553) (469,498) 

Closing Balance  483,693 441,655 

   

 2020 2019 
 $ $ 
Analysis of employee provisions   

Current:   

– annual leave and time off in lieu entitlements 230,610 249,195 

– long service leave entitlements 158,719 108,092 

Total current employee provisions  389,329 357,287 

Non-current:   

– long service leave entitlements 94,364 84,368 

 94,364 84,368 

 

Employee provisions  
Employee provisions represent amounts accrued for annual leave and long service leave. 

The current portion for this provision includes the total amount accrued for annual leave entitlements and 
the amounts accrued for long service leave entitlements that have vested due to employees having 
completed the required period of service. Based on past experience, the company does not expect the full 
amount of annual leave or long service leave balances classified as current liabilities to be settled within 
the next 12 months. However, these amounts must be classified as current liabilities since the company 
does not have an unconditional right to defer the settlement of these amounts in the event employees wish 
to use their leave entitlement. 

The non-current portion for this provision includes amounts accrued for long service leave entitlements that 
have not yet vested in relation to those employees who have not yet completed the required period of 
service. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

    
NOTE 13: CAPTIAL AND LEASING COMMITMENTS     
    
    
a. Finance Lease Commitments    

 Forrest Personnel Ltd had no finance lease commitments for the year ended 30 June 2020 (2019: 
Nil). 

b.  Operating Lease Commitments    

 Non-cancellable operating leases contracted for but not 
capitalised in the financial statements  

   

 Payable – minimum lease payments:    

 – not later than 12 months   123,001 

 – between 12 months and five years   56,921 

 – later than five years   - 

     179,922 

c.  Capital Commitments     

 Forrest Personnel Ltd had no capital commitments at 30 June 2020 (2019: Nil).  
 
NOTE 14: EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 
The directors are not aware of any significant events since the end of the reporting period. 
 
NOTE 15: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

   2020 2019 

   $ $ 

a. Key Management Personnel    

 Any person(s) having authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling the activities of the company, directly 
or indirectly, including any director (whether executive or 
otherwise) is considered key management personnel. 

   

 Key management personnel compensation:    

 – short-term benefits  568,316 541,512 

 – other-long term benefits  64,425 13,411 

 – post-employment benefits   53,499 51,450 

    686,240 606,373 

      

b. Remuneration of Directors     
 Sitting fees paid/accrued to the Directors of the company totalled $36,489 for the period from 1 

July 2019 to 30 June 2020 (2019; $31,192).  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 
NOTE 16: CASH FLOW INFORMATION  2020 2019 
  $ $ 
Reconciliation of Cash Flows from Operating Activities with Net 
Current Year Surplus 

   

Net current year surplus  2,480,694 493,828 

Non-cash flows:    

Depreciation and amortisation expense  382,730 292,722 

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (55,310) (51,071) 

Revaluation of land and buildings   - 136,997 

Changes in assets and liabilities:    

Increase in accounts receivable and other current assets  (510,472) 113,963 

Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable and other payables  18,735 109,429 

Increase/(decrease) in employee provisions  42,037 (114,857) 

   2,358,414 1,179,521 

 
NOTE 17: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
The company’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, receivables and payables, and 
trade payables.  

The carrying amounts for each category of financial instruments, measured in accordance with AASB 9: 
Financial Instruments as detailed in the accounting policies to these financial statements, are as follows: 

 Note 2020 2019 
  $ $ 
Financial assets at amortised cost     

Cash on hand 4 2,599,137 3,545,671 

Financial assets  5 2,978,178 - 

Accounts receivable and other debtors 6 611,823 522,810 

Total financial assets  6,189,138 4,068,481 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 
NOTE 17: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT) 
  2020 2019 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost   $ $ 
– accounts payable and other payables 11a 1,042,201 1,064,529 

– lease liability   124,415 - 

Total financial liabilities  1,166,616 1,064,529 

 
Financial Risk Management Policies 
The finance committee is responsible for monitoring and managing the company’s compliance with its risk 
management strategy and consists of senior board members. The finance committee’s overall risk 
management strategy is to assist the company in meeting its financial targets while minimising potential 
adverse effects on financial performance. Risk management policies are approved and reviewed by the 
finance committee on a regular basis. These include credit risk policies and future cash flow requirements. 
Specific Financial Risk Exposures and Management 
The main risks the company is exposed to through its financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk and 
market risk relating to interest rate risk and other price risk. 

There have been no substantive changes in the types of risks the company is exposed to, how these risks 
arise, or the Board’s objectives, policies and processes for managing or measuring the risks from the 
previous period. 

a. Credit risk 

 Exposure to credit risk relating to financial assets arises from the potential non-performance by 
counterparties of contract obligations that could lead to a financial loss for the company. 

 The company does not have any material credit risk exposures as its major source of revenue is 
the receipt of funding.  

 Credit risk exposures 

 The maximum exposure to credit risk by class of recognised financial assets at the end of the 
reporting period is equivalent to the carrying value and classification of those financial assets (net 
of any provisions) as presented in the statement of financial position. 

 Accounts receivable and other debtors that are neither past due nor impaired are considered to be 
of high credit quality.  Aggregates of such amounts are detailed at Note 6.   

 The company has no significant concentrations of credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or 
group of counterparties. Details with respect to credit risk of accounts receivable and other debtors 
are provided in Note 6. 

 Credit risk related to balances with banks and other financial institutions is managed by the finance 
committee in accordance with approved board policy. Such policy requires that surplus funds are 
only invested with counterparties with a Standard & Poor’s rating of at least AA–.  The following 
table provides information regarding the credit risk relating to cash and money market securities 
based on Standard & Poor’s counterparty credit ratings: 

  Note 2020 2019 
   $ $ 
 Cash on hand    

 – AA rated  2,599,137 3,545,671 

  4 2,599,137 3,545,671 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 
NOTE 17: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT) 
  2020 2019 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost   $ $ 
– accounts payable and other payables 11a 1,042,201 1,064,529 

– lease liability   124,415 - 

Total financial liabilities  1,166,616 1,064,529 

 
Financial Risk Management Policies 
The finance committee is responsible for monitoring and managing the company’s compliance with its risk 
management strategy and consists of senior board members. The finance committee’s overall risk 
management strategy is to assist the company in meeting its financial targets while minimising potential 
adverse effects on financial performance. Risk management policies are approved and reviewed by the 
finance committee on a regular basis. These include credit risk policies and future cash flow requirements. 
Specific Financial Risk Exposures and Management 
The main risks the company is exposed to through its financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk and 
market risk relating to interest rate risk and other price risk. 

There have been no substantive changes in the types of risks the company is exposed to, how these risks 
arise, or the Board’s objectives, policies and processes for managing or measuring the risks from the 
previous period. 

a. Credit risk 

 Exposure to credit risk relating to financial assets arises from the potential non-performance by 
counterparties of contract obligations that could lead to a financial loss for the company. 

 The company does not have any material credit risk exposures as its major source of revenue is 
the receipt of funding.  

 Credit risk exposures 

 The maximum exposure to credit risk by class of recognised financial assets at the end of the 
reporting period is equivalent to the carrying value and classification of those financial assets (net 
of any provisions) as presented in the statement of financial position. 

 Accounts receivable and other debtors that are neither past due nor impaired are considered to be 
of high credit quality.  Aggregates of such amounts are detailed at Note 6.   

 The company has no significant concentrations of credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or 
group of counterparties. Details with respect to credit risk of accounts receivable and other debtors 
are provided in Note 6. 

 Credit risk related to balances with banks and other financial institutions is managed by the finance 
committee in accordance with approved board policy. Such policy requires that surplus funds are 
only invested with counterparties with a Standard & Poor’s rating of at least AA–.  The following 
table provides information regarding the credit risk relating to cash and money market securities 
based on Standard & Poor’s counterparty credit ratings: 

  Note 2020 2019 
   $ $ 
 Cash on hand    

 – AA rated  2,599,137 3,545,671 

  4 2,599,137 3,545,671 
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NOTE 17: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT) 
b. Liquidity risk 
 Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the company might encounter difficulty in settling its debts or 

otherwise meeting its obligations in relation to financial liabilities.  The company manages this risk 
through the following mechanisms: 

 – preparing forward-looking cash flow analyses in relation to its operating, investing and financing 
activities; 

 – maintaining a reputable credit profile; 

 – managing credit risk related to financial assets; 

 – only investing surplus cash with major financial institutions; and 

 – comparing the maturity profile of financial liabilities with the realisation profile of financial assets. 

 The table below reflects an undiscounted contractual maturity analysis for non-derivative financial 
liabilities.  The company does not hold any derivative financial liabilities directly. 

 Cash flows realised from financial assets reflect management’s expectation as to the timing of 
realisation. Actual timing may therefore differ from that disclosed. The timing of cash flows presented in 
the table to settle financial liabilities reflects the earliest contractual settlement dates. 

Financial liability and financial asset maturity analysis 

 Within 1 Year 1 to 5 Years Over 5 Years Total 
 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 
 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Financial liabilities due for 
payment 

        

Accounts payable and other 
payables (excluding leave 
provisions) 

1,042,201 1,064,529 - - - - 1,042,201 1,064,529 

Lease liability  78,455 - 45,960 - - - 124,415 - 

Total expected outflows 1,120,656 1,064,529 45,960 - - - 1,166,616 1,064,529 

Financial assets – cash 
flows realisable 

        

Cash on hand 2,599,137 3,545,671 - - - - 2,599,137 3,545,671 

Financial assets  2,978,178 - - - - - 2,978,178 - 

Accounts receivable and 
other debtors 

611,823 522,810 - - - - 611,823 522,810 

Total anticipated inflows  6,189,138 4,068,481 - - - - 6,189,138 4,068,481 

Net inflow on financial 
instruments 

5,068,482 3,003,952 (45,960) - - - 5,022,522 3,003,952 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

NOTE 17: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT  
c. Market risk 
 (i) Interest rate risk 

  Exposure to interest rate risk arises on financial assets and financial liabilities recognised at 
the end of the reporting period whereby a future change in interest rates will affect future 
cash flows or the fair value of fixed rate financial instruments. The company is also exposed 
to earnings volatility on floating rate instruments.  

  The financial instruments that expose the company to interest rate risk are limited to lease 
liabilities, listed shares, government and fixed interest securities, and cash on hand. 

  The company manages interest rate risk by ensuring that, whenever possible, payables are 
paid within any pre-agreed credit terms.   

 (ii) Other price risk 

  Other price risk relates to the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from 
interest rate risk or currency risk) of securities held. 

  The company is exposed to other price risk on investments held for trading or for medium to 
longer terms.  Such risk is managed through diversification of investments across industries 
and geographical locations. 
 

 Sensitivity analysis 

 The following table illustrates sensitivities to the company’s exposures to changes in interest rates 
and equity prices. The table indicates the impact of how profit and equity values reported at the end 
of the reporting period would have been affected by changes in the relevant risk variable that 
management considers to be reasonably possible. 

 These sensitivities assume that the movement in a particular variable is independent of other 
variables. 

   Surplus Equity 

   $ $ 
Year ended 30 June 2020    

+/– 2% in interest rates  +/- 111,546 +/- 111,546 

Year ended 30 June 2019    

+/– 2% in interest rates  +/- 70,913 +/- 70,913 

 No sensitivity analysis has been performed on foreign exchange risk as the company has no 
material exposures to currency risk. 

 There have been no changes in any of the assumptions used to prepare the above sensitivity 
analysis from the prior year. 

Fair Values 

Fair value estimation 
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are presented in the following table and can be 
compared to their carrying amounts as presented in the statement of financial position.   

Refer to Note 18 for detailed disclosures regarding the fair value measurement of the company’s financial 
assets and financial liabilities. 

Differences between fair values and carrying amounts of financial instruments with fixed interest rates are 
due to the change in discount rates being applied by the market since their initial recognition by the 
company.  Most of these instruments, which are carried at amortised cost (ie accounts receivables, loan 
liabilities), are to be held until maturity and therefore the fair value figures calculated bear little relevance to 
the company. 
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NOTE 17: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT  
c. Market risk 
 (i) Interest rate risk 

  Exposure to interest rate risk arises on financial assets and financial liabilities recognised at 
the end of the reporting period whereby a future change in interest rates will affect future 
cash flows or the fair value of fixed rate financial instruments. The company is also exposed 
to earnings volatility on floating rate instruments.  

  The financial instruments that expose the company to interest rate risk are limited to lease 
liabilities, listed shares, government and fixed interest securities, and cash on hand. 

  The company manages interest rate risk by ensuring that, whenever possible, payables are 
paid within any pre-agreed credit terms.   

 (ii) Other price risk 

  Other price risk relates to the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from 
interest rate risk or currency risk) of securities held. 

  The company is exposed to other price risk on investments held for trading or for medium to 
longer terms.  Such risk is managed through diversification of investments across industries 
and geographical locations. 
 

 Sensitivity analysis 

 The following table illustrates sensitivities to the company’s exposures to changes in interest rates 
and equity prices. The table indicates the impact of how profit and equity values reported at the end 
of the reporting period would have been affected by changes in the relevant risk variable that 
management considers to be reasonably possible. 

 These sensitivities assume that the movement in a particular variable is independent of other 
variables. 

   Surplus Equity 

   $ $ 
Year ended 30 June 2020    

+/– 2% in interest rates  +/- 111,546 +/- 111,546 

Year ended 30 June 2019    

+/– 2% in interest rates  +/- 70,913 +/- 70,913 

 No sensitivity analysis has been performed on foreign exchange risk as the company has no 
material exposures to currency risk. 

 There have been no changes in any of the assumptions used to prepare the above sensitivity 
analysis from the prior year. 

Fair Values 

Fair value estimation 
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are presented in the following table and can be 
compared to their carrying amounts as presented in the statement of financial position.   

Refer to Note 18 for detailed disclosures regarding the fair value measurement of the company’s financial 
assets and financial liabilities. 

Differences between fair values and carrying amounts of financial instruments with fixed interest rates are 
due to the change in discount rates being applied by the market since their initial recognition by the 
company.  Most of these instruments, which are carried at amortised cost (ie accounts receivables, loan 
liabilities), are to be held until maturity and therefore the fair value figures calculated bear little relevance to 
the company. 
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NOTE 17: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT  
  2020 2019 

 Note Carrying 
Amount Fair Value 

Carrying 
Amount 

Fair 
Value 

  $ $ $ $ 
Financial assets at amortised cost:      

Cash on hand (i) 4 2,599,137 2,599,137 3,545,671 3,545,671 

Financial assets (i) 5 2,978,178 2,978,178 - - 

Accounts receivable and other debtors (i) 6 611,823 611,823 522,810 522,810 

Total financial assets at amortised cost  6,189,138 6,189,138 4,068,481 4,068,481 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost:      

Accounts payable and other payables (i) 11a 1,042,201 1,042,264 1,064,529 1,064,529 

Lease liabilities   124,415 124,415 - - 

Total financial liabilities at amortised cost  1,166,616 1,166,616 1,064,529 1,064,529 

 
(i) Cash on hand, financial assets, accounts receivable and other debtors, and accounts payable and 

other payables are short-term instruments in nature whose carrying amount is equivalent to fair 
value. Accounts payable and other payables exclude amounts provided for annual leave, which is 
outside the scope of AASB 9. 

 
NOTE 18: FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 
The company measures and recognises the following  assets at fair value on a recurring basis after initial 
recognition 

– financial assets at fair value through profit or loss;  

– available-for-sale financial assets; and 

– freehold land and buildings. 

The company does not subsequently measure any liabilities at fair value on a recurring basis, or any 
assets or liabilities at fair value on a non-recurring basis. 

a. Fair Value Hierarchy 

 

AASB 13: Fair Value Measurement requires the disclosure of fair value information by level of the 
fair value hierarchy, which categorises fair value measurements into one of three possible levels 
based on the lowest level that an input that is significant to the measurement can be categorised 
into as follows: 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

 

Measurements based on 
quoted prices (unadjusted) in 
active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities that the 
company can access at the 
measurement date. 

Measurements based on inputs 
other than quoted prices included 
in Level 1 that are observable for 
the asset or liability, either directly 
or indirectly. 

Measurements based on 
unobservable inputs for the 
asset or liability. 

 

The fair values of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market are determined 
using one or more valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise, to the extent 
possible, the use of observable market data. If all significant inputs required to measure fair value 
are observable, the asset or liability is included in Level 2. If one or more significant inputs are not 
based on observable market data, the asset or liability is included in Level 3. 
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NOTE 17: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT  
  2020 2019 

 Note Carrying 
Amount Fair Value 

Carrying 
Amount 

Fair 
Value 

  $ $ $ $ 
Financial assets at amortised cost:      

Cash on hand (i) 4 2,599,137 2,599,137 3,545,671 3,545,671 

Financial assets (i) 5 2,978,178 2,978,178 - - 

Accounts receivable and other debtors (i) 6 611,823 611,823 522,810 522,810 

Total financial assets at amortised cost  6,189,138 6,189,138 4,068,481 4,068,481 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost:      

Accounts payable and other payables (i) 11a 1,042,201 1,042,264 1,064,529 1,064,529 

Lease liabilities   124,415 124,415 - - 

Total financial liabilities at amortised cost  1,166,616 1,166,616 1,064,529 1,064,529 

 
(i) Cash on hand, financial assets, accounts receivable and other debtors, and accounts payable and 

other payables are short-term instruments in nature whose carrying amount is equivalent to fair 
value. Accounts payable and other payables exclude amounts provided for annual leave, which is 
outside the scope of AASB 9. 

 
NOTE 18: FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 
The company measures and recognises the following  assets at fair value on a recurring basis after initial 
recognition 

– financial assets at fair value through profit or loss;  

– available-for-sale financial assets; and 

– freehold land and buildings. 

The company does not subsequently measure any liabilities at fair value on a recurring basis, or any 
assets or liabilities at fair value on a non-recurring basis. 

a. Fair Value Hierarchy 

 

AASB 13: Fair Value Measurement requires the disclosure of fair value information by level of the 
fair value hierarchy, which categorises fair value measurements into one of three possible levels 
based on the lowest level that an input that is significant to the measurement can be categorised 
into as follows: 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

 

Measurements based on 
quoted prices (unadjusted) in 
active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities that the 
company can access at the 
measurement date. 

Measurements based on inputs 
other than quoted prices included 
in Level 1 that are observable for 
the asset or liability, either directly 
or indirectly. 

Measurements based on 
unobservable inputs for the 
asset or liability. 

 

The fair values of assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market are determined 
using one or more valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise, to the extent 
possible, the use of observable market data. If all significant inputs required to measure fair value 
are observable, the asset or liability is included in Level 2. If one or more significant inputs are not 
based on observable market data, the asset or liability is included in Level 3. 
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NOTE 18: FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 

  
Valuation techniques 

 

The company selects a valuation technique that is appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data is available to measure fair value. The availability of sufficient and relevant data 
primarily depends on the specific characteristics of the asset or liability being measured. The 
valuation techniques selected by the company are consistent with one or more of the following 
valuation approaches: 

 – Market approach: valuation techniques that use prices and other relevant information 
generated by market transactions for identical or similar assets or liabilities. 

 
– Income approach: valuation techniques that convert estimated future cash flows or 

income and expenses into a single discounted present value. 

 – Cost approach: valuation techniques that reflect the current replacement cost of an 
asset at its current service capacity. 

 

Each valuation technique requires inputs that reflect the assumptions that buyers and sellers 
would use when pricing the asset or liability, including assumptions about risks. When selecting a 
valuation technique, the company gives priority to those techniques that maximise the use of 
observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. Inputs that are developed using 
market data (such as publicly available information on actual transactions) and reflect the 
assumptions that buyers and sellers would generally use when pricing the asset or liability are 
considered observable, whereas inputs for which market data is not available and therefore are 
developed using the best information available about such assumptions are considered 
unobservable. 

 
The following tables provide the fair values of the company’s assets and liabilities measured and 
recognised on a recurring basis after initial recognition and their categorisation within the fair value 
hierarchy: 

  30 June 2020 

 Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
   $ $ $ $ 

 Total financial assets recognised at 
fair value on a recurring basis    

 Non-financial assets     

 Freehold land  - 975,000 - 975,000

 Freehold buildings  - 1,666,770 - 1,666,770

 Total non-financial assets 
recognised at fair value on  a 
recurring basis 9 - 2,641,770 - 2,641,770

 
  30 June 2019 

 Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
   $ $ $ $ 
 Total financial assets recognised at 

fair value on a recurring basis      
 Non-financial assets      

 Freehold land  - 975,000 - 975,000

 Freehold buildings  - 1,707,229 - 1,707,229

 Total non-financial assets 
recognised at fair value on  a 
recurring basis 9 - 2,682,229 - 2,682,229
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NOTE 18: FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 

  
Valuation techniques 

 

The company selects a valuation technique that is appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data is available to measure fair value. The availability of sufficient and relevant data 
primarily depends on the specific characteristics of the asset or liability being measured. The 
valuation techniques selected by the company are consistent with one or more of the following 
valuation approaches: 

 – Market approach: valuation techniques that use prices and other relevant information 
generated by market transactions for identical or similar assets or liabilities. 

 
– Income approach: valuation techniques that convert estimated future cash flows or 

income and expenses into a single discounted present value. 

 – Cost approach: valuation techniques that reflect the current replacement cost of an 
asset at its current service capacity. 

 

Each valuation technique requires inputs that reflect the assumptions that buyers and sellers 
would use when pricing the asset or liability, including assumptions about risks. When selecting a 
valuation technique, the company gives priority to those techniques that maximise the use of 
observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. Inputs that are developed using 
market data (such as publicly available information on actual transactions) and reflect the 
assumptions that buyers and sellers would generally use when pricing the asset or liability are 
considered observable, whereas inputs for which market data is not available and therefore are 
developed using the best information available about such assumptions are considered 
unobservable. 

 
The following tables provide the fair values of the company’s assets and liabilities measured and 
recognised on a recurring basis after initial recognition and their categorisation within the fair value 
hierarchy: 

  30 June 2020 

 Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
   $ $ $ $ 

 Total financial assets recognised at 
fair value on a recurring basis    

 Non-financial assets     

 Freehold land  - 975,000 - 975,000

 Freehold buildings  - 1,666,770 - 1,666,770

 Total non-financial assets 
recognised at fair value on  a 
recurring basis 9 - 2,641,770 - 2,641,770

 
  30 June 2019 

 Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
   $ $ $ $ 
 Total financial assets recognised at 

fair value on a recurring basis      
 Non-financial assets      

 Freehold land  - 975,000 - 975,000

 Freehold buildings  - 1,707,229 - 1,707,229

 Total non-financial assets 
recognised at fair value on  a 
recurring basis 9 - 2,682,229 - 2,682,229
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NOTE 18: FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 

  
Valuation techniques 

 

The company selects a valuation technique that is appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data is available to measure fair value. The availability of sufficient and relevant data 
primarily depends on the specific characteristics of the asset or liability being measured. The 
valuation techniques selected by the company are consistent with one or more of the following 
valuation approaches: 

 – Market approach: valuation techniques that use prices and other relevant information 
generated by market transactions for identical or similar assets or liabilities. 

 
– Income approach: valuation techniques that convert estimated future cash flows or 

income and expenses into a single discounted present value. 

 – Cost approach: valuation techniques that reflect the current replacement cost of an 
asset at its current service capacity. 

 

Each valuation technique requires inputs that reflect the assumptions that buyers and sellers 
would use when pricing the asset or liability, including assumptions about risks. When selecting a 
valuation technique, the company gives priority to those techniques that maximise the use of 
observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. Inputs that are developed using 
market data (such as publicly available information on actual transactions) and reflect the 
assumptions that buyers and sellers would generally use when pricing the asset or liability are 
considered observable, whereas inputs for which market data is not available and therefore are 
developed using the best information available about such assumptions are considered 
unobservable. 

 
The following tables provide the fair values of the company’s assets and liabilities measured and 
recognised on a recurring basis after initial recognition and their categorisation within the fair value 
hierarchy: 

  30 June 2020 

 Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
   $ $ $ $ 

 Total financial assets recognised at 
fair value on a recurring basis    

 Non-financial assets     

 Freehold land  - 975,000 - 975,000

 Freehold buildings  - 1,666,770 - 1,666,770

 Total non-financial assets 
recognised at fair value on  a 
recurring basis 9 - 2,641,770 - 2,641,770

 
  30 June 2019 

 Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
   $ $ $ $ 
 Total financial assets recognised at 

fair value on a recurring basis      
 Non-financial assets      

 Freehold land  - 975,000 - 975,000

 Freehold buildings  - 1,707,229 - 1,707,229

 Total non-financial assets 
recognised at fair value on  a 
recurring basis 9 - 2,682,229 - 2,682,229
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NOTE 18: FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 

  
Valuation techniques 

 

The company selects a valuation technique that is appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data is available to measure fair value. The availability of sufficient and relevant data 
primarily depends on the specific characteristics of the asset or liability being measured. The 
valuation techniques selected by the company are consistent with one or more of the following 
valuation approaches: 

 – Market approach: valuation techniques that use prices and other relevant information 
generated by market transactions for identical or similar assets or liabilities. 

 
– Income approach: valuation techniques that convert estimated future cash flows or 

income and expenses into a single discounted present value. 

 – Cost approach: valuation techniques that reflect the current replacement cost of an 
asset at its current service capacity. 

 

Each valuation technique requires inputs that reflect the assumptions that buyers and sellers 
would use when pricing the asset or liability, including assumptions about risks. When selecting a 
valuation technique, the company gives priority to those techniques that maximise the use of 
observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. Inputs that are developed using 
market data (such as publicly available information on actual transactions) and reflect the 
assumptions that buyers and sellers would generally use when pricing the asset or liability are 
considered observable, whereas inputs for which market data is not available and therefore are 
developed using the best information available about such assumptions are considered 
unobservable. 

 
The following tables provide the fair values of the company’s assets and liabilities measured and 
recognised on a recurring basis after initial recognition and their categorisation within the fair value 
hierarchy: 

  30 June 2020 

 Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
   $ $ $ $ 

 Total financial assets recognised at 
fair value on a recurring basis    

 Non-financial assets     

 Freehold land  - 975,000 - 975,000

 Freehold buildings  - 1,666,770 - 1,666,770

 Total non-financial assets 
recognised at fair value on  a 
recurring basis 9 - 2,641,770 - 2,641,770

 
  30 June 2019 

 Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
   $ $ $ $ 
 Total financial assets recognised at 

fair value on a recurring basis      
 Non-financial assets      

 Freehold land  - 975,000 - 975,000

 Freehold buildings  - 1,707,229 - 1,707,229

 Total non-financial assets 
recognised at fair value on  a 
recurring basis 9 - 2,682,229 - 2,682,229

Page 31 of 35

36



Forrest Personnel Ltd  
ABN 16 407 737 173 

  Page 32 of 35 

NOTE 18: FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 

  
Valuation techniques 

 

The company selects a valuation technique that is appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data is available to measure fair value. The availability of sufficient and relevant data 
primarily depends on the specific characteristics of the asset or liability being measured. The 
valuation techniques selected by the company are consistent with one or more of the following 
valuation approaches: 

 – Market approach: valuation techniques that use prices and other relevant information 
generated by market transactions for identical or similar assets or liabilities. 

 
– Income approach: valuation techniques that convert estimated future cash flows or 

income and expenses into a single discounted present value. 

 – Cost approach: valuation techniques that reflect the current replacement cost of an 
asset at its current service capacity. 

 

Each valuation technique requires inputs that reflect the assumptions that buyers and sellers 
would use when pricing the asset or liability, including assumptions about risks. When selecting a 
valuation technique, the company gives priority to those techniques that maximise the use of 
observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. Inputs that are developed using 
market data (such as publicly available information on actual transactions) and reflect the 
assumptions that buyers and sellers would generally use when pricing the asset or liability are 
considered observable, whereas inputs for which market data is not available and therefore are 
developed using the best information available about such assumptions are considered 
unobservable. 

 
The following tables provide the fair values of the company’s assets and liabilities measured and 
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 Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
   $ $ $ $ 

 Total financial assets recognised at 
fair value on a recurring basis    

 Non-financial assets     
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NOTE 18: FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 

  
Valuation techniques 
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NOTE 18: FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 
 There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 for assets measured at fair value on a 

recurring basis during the reporting period (2019: no transfers). 
 

b. Valuation Techniques and Inputs Used to Measure Level 2 Fair Values 

 Description Fair Value at 30 
June 2020 Valuation Technique(s) Inputs Used 

  $   

 Non-financial assets    

 Freehold land(i) 975,000 Market approach using recent 
observable market data for 

similar properties;  

Price per square 
metre; market 
borrowing rate 

 Freehold buildings(i) 1,666,770 Market approach using recent 
observable market data for 
similar properties; income 

approach using discounted cash 
flow methodology 

Price per square 
metre; market 
borrowing rate 

  2,641,770   

 (i) The fair value of freehold land and buildings is determined at least every three years 
based on valuations by an independent valuer. At the end of each intervening period, the 
directors review the independent valuation and, when appropriate, update the fair value 
measurement to reflect current market conditions using a range of valuation techniques, 
including recent observable market data and discounted cash flow methodologies.  

 There were no changes during the period in the valuation techniques used by the company to 
determine Level 2 fair values.  

 
NOTE 19: CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
Management controls the capital of the company to ensure that adequate cash flows are generated to fund 
its mentoring programs and that returns from investments are maximised within tolerable risk parameters.  
The finance committee ensures that the overall risk management strategy is in line with this objective. 

The finance committee operates under policies approved by the Board of Directors. Risk management 
policies are approved and reviewed by the Board on a regular basis. These include credit risk policies and 
future cash flow requirements. 

The company’s capital consists of financial liabilities, supported by financial assets. 

Management effectively manages the company’s capital by assessing the company’s financial risks and 
responding to changes in these risks and in the market. These responses may include the consideration of 
debt levels. 

There have been no changes to the strategy adopted by management to control the capital of the 
company since the previous year.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 
NOTE 20: COMPANY DETAILS 
The registered office of the company is: 

 Forrest Personnel Ltd  

 14 Strickland Street  

 BUNBURY  WA  6230 

The principal place of business is: 

 14 Strickland Street  

 BUNBURY  WA  6230 

  

 
NOTE 21: MEMBERS’ GUARANTEE 
The company is incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001 and is a company limited by guarantee. If 
the company is wound up, the constitution states that each member is required to contribute a maximum of 
$1 each towards meeting any outstanding obligations of the company. At 30 June 2020, the number of 
members was 89 (2019: 89). 

 
NOTE 22: COVID-19 IMPACT  
COVID-19 had an adverse operational impact on the company, with most staff being forced to work from 
home from late March 2020 and returning to work gradually as restrictions were lifted. 
The company put in place rigorous controls to prevent the spread of the virus – many of which are still in 
place. Further, the company ensured it had in place the necessary IT infrastructure to effectively continue 
to provide its services remotely.  
The growing unemployment caused by COVID-19 resulted in the company’s commenced caseload 
increasing from below 1,500 to approximately 1,700. Full year DES  revenue increased by 24% in 
comparison to the 2018/2019.  
The company applied for, and received, government assistance. For the year ended 30 June 2020 the 
company received a $62,500 Cash Flow Boost and $608,400 in JobKeeper payments. For the 2020/2021 
financial year the company has budgeted 20% growth in commenced caseload, reflecting the expected 
continued adverse impacts of difficult economic conditions. 
The company considers that it has adequate plans in place should further restrictions be imposed in future 
in relation to COVID-19.  

 

Page 33 of 35

Forrest Personnel Ltd
ABN 16 407 737 173

38



Forrest Personnel Ltd  
ABN 16 407 737 173 

  Page 34 of 35 

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 
NOTE 20: COMPANY DETAILS 
The registered office of the company is: 

 Forrest Personnel Ltd  

 14 Strickland Street  

 BUNBURY  WA  6230 

The principal place of business is: 

 14 Strickland Street  

 BUNBURY  WA  6230 

  

 
NOTE 21: MEMBERS’ GUARANTEE 
The company is incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001 and is a company limited by guarantee. If 
the company is wound up, the constitution states that each member is required to contribute a maximum of 
$1 each towards meeting any outstanding obligations of the company. At 30 June 2020, the number of 
members was 89 (2019: 89). 

 
NOTE 22: COVID-19 IMPACT  
COVID-19 had an adverse operational impact on the company, with most staff being forced to work from 
home from late March 2020 and returning to work gradually as restrictions were lifted. 
The company put in place rigorous controls to prevent the spread of the virus – many of which are still in 
place. Further, the company ensured it had in place the necessary IT infrastructure to effectively continue 
to provide its services remotely.  
The growing unemployment caused by COVID-19 resulted in the company’s commenced caseload 
increasing from below 1,500 to approximately 1,700. Full year DES  revenue increased by 24% in 
comparison to the 2018/2019.  
The company applied for, and received, government assistance. For the year ended 30 June 2020 the 
company received a $62,500 Cash Flow Boost and $608,400 in JobKeeper payments. For the 2020/2021 
financial year the company has budgeted 20% growth in commenced caseload, reflecting the expected 
continued adverse impacts of difficult economic conditions. 
The company considers that it has adequate plans in place should further restrictions be imposed in future 
in relation to COVID-19.  

 

Forrest Personnel Ltd
ABN 16 407 737 173

14th

Page 34 of 35

39



 

 

 
AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION  

TO THE BOARD OF FORREST PERSONNEL LTD 
 

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the year ended 30 June 2020 there have been no 
contraventions of:  
 

i) The auditor independence requirements as set out in section 60.40 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-
profits Commission Act 2012 in relation to the audit; and 
 

 
 

 

ii) Any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 
 
AMD Chartered Accountants 
 
 
 
 
MARIA CAVALLO FCA  
Director 
 
Bunbury, WA 
 
Dated this 15th day of October 2020 
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i) The auditor independence requirements as set out in section 60.40 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-
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ii) Any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 
 
AMD Chartered Accountants 
 
 
 
 
MARIA CAVALLO FCA  
Director 
 
Bunbury, WA 
 
Dated this 15th day of October 2020 

 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF FORREST PERSONNEL LTD  

 
Opinion 
We have audited the financial report of Forrest Personnel Ltd which comprises the statement of financial position 
as at 30 June 2020, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the statement of changes in 
equity and the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies, and the directors’ declaration.  
  
In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of Forrest Personnel Ltd is in accordance with Division 60 of the 
Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commissions Act 2012, including: 
 

i) giving a true and fair view, in all material respects, of the financial position of Forrest Personnel Ltd as 
at 30 June 2020, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended; and 

 
ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-

for-profits Commission Regulations 2013. 
 
Basis for Opinion  
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our 
report.  We are independent of Forrest Personnel Ltd in accordance with the Australian Charities and Not-for-
profits Commission Act 2012 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards 
Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial report in Australia.  We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.   
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.   
 
Emphasis of Matter 
We draw attention to Note 1(q) to the financial statements which outlines the corporation’s economic 
dependency, whereby to continue as a going concern the corporation is dependent upon continued receipt of 
funding from the Department of Social Services. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 
 
Information Other than the Financial Report and Auditor’s Report Thereon  
The directors are responsible for the other information.  The other information comprises the information included 
in Forrest Personnel Ltd’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2020, but does not include the financial report 
and our auditor’s report thereon.  
 
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.   
 
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact.  We have nothing to report in this regard. 
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Responsibilities of the Director’s for the Financial Report  
The directors of the corporation are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report 
that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and for such internal control as 
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 
In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing Forrest Personnel Ltd’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless management either intend to liquidate Forrest Personnel Ltd or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report  
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.  
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial report.    
 
As part of an audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and 
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:  
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our my opinion.  The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made.   

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the registered entity’s ability to continue as a going concern.  If we conclude that 
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.  Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.  However, 
future events or conditions may cause the registered entity to cease to continue as a going concern.  

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, 
and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation.  

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.  
  
AMD Chartered Accountants 
 
 
 
 
MARIA CAVALLO  
Director                                Dated this 15th day of October 2020  
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To support more 
people to make 
the most of their 
abilities. 

Our Vision:

Our 
Purpose:

Our Values:
Our PEOPLE

assion & perseverance 
We do what we say we will do 

ptimism & opportunity  
We are creative and proactively seek solutions

quality & excellence  
We embrace diversity knowing we all have a  
valuable contribution to make

rofessionalism  
We continually look to improve ourselves  
and our processes. 

eadership   
We lead by example through diligence and 
accountability. 

fficient & effective    
We are a team, working together to maximise  
outcomes for individuals.

P
E
O

P
L

ENo Ability Wasted.

EMPLOYABILITY
CAPABILITY
AVAILABILITY
ADAPTABILITY
TRAINABILITY
DEPENDABILITY
SUITABILITY

1800 ABILITY  |  fpi.org.au

Our Vision and Values
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A world where no ability is wasted.  
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Iain Massey 
Chair, 2015 – Present 

Iain is a graduate member of the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors, and an Associate Fellow of the Australian Institute 
of Management. He holds graduate qualifications in business 
management and computer science. Iain is a resident of Balingup 
in the South West and assists clients in the region and elsewhere in 
WA. He brings to Forrest Personnel special expertise in governance, 
strategy, board processes and technology.  

Karl Depiazzi  
Deputy Chairman, 2016 – Present 

Karl has more than 18 years of executive management experience, 
both in the not-for-profit and large corporate environments, and is 
a Certified Practicing Accountant. He is an experienced company 
director and consultant to a range of businesses in the engineering 
and resource industries. He has deep business, finance, risk and 
governance experience gained in Australia and overseas, working with 
top tier service and industrial clients. 

 David Timmel 
Director, 2016 – Present 

David is a senior executive with over 30 years’ experience in the 
Financial Services, Agribusiness, Recruitment, Property Management 
and Not for Profit sectors. David is highly experienced in successfully 
running multi-site businesses for ASX and unlisted public companies 
throughout Australia. David is a graduate of the Advance Management 
Program at Harvard University and holds post – and undergraduate 
degrees from Curtin University.   

 Lyn Harding 
Director, 2017 – Present 

Lyn’s passion is for culture and people, creating a collective uplift 
in performance. She is a Fellow of the Australian Institute of 
Management, with experience in both commercial and not-for-profit 
organisations. Lyn has a strong fiscal focus, a flair for developing 
strategic visions, and a firm handle on risk management. Lyn lives in 
Fremantle and frequently travels the South West, where she aims to 
make her home one day. 

Our Board Members
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Anna Bagshaw
Chief Executive Officer  (2017 - Present)

Anna has a Bachelor of Commerce from the University of Western 
Australia and has managed businesses in Australia and Argentina.  
Anna has been working in Disability Employment Services 
since 2011. Anna has many years’ experience in leadership, 
management and governance across a range of corporate and non-
government entities. Her roles have included leadership, planning, 
operations, human resources, change management, training, logistics 
and administration. Today Anna focuses her experience and knowledge 
managing Disability Employment Services, focusing on placing West 
Australian people, who are keen to work, with the right employers. 
Anna believes there is a job for everyone and that diversity in people 
makes the world interesting. 

Melissa Reid  
General Manager, Corporate Services 

Melissa holds a Bachelor of Commerce Degree – double major in 
Accounting and Finance and is a chartered accountant. Melissa has 
a background in financial accounting and business services within 
the construction and engineering industry. Melissa was the Company 
Accountant before her promotion to General Manager and brings to 
this role her skills in financial reporting, forecasting, analysis and cash 
flow management.

Jacalyn Graham 
General Manager, Clinical Governance 

Jacalyn has been working in Disability Employment since 2016. With 
degrees in Social Work and Psychology, Jacalyn has always been 
committed to providing high quality service delivery. Jacalyn brings 
practical knowledge, experience and evidence-based approaches to 
Disability Employment Services. Jacalyn is committed to ensuring 
quality training is available to staff to ensure excellence in service 
delivery flourishes.  

Ability fi rst for 30 years

Our Executive Team
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Brett Coate
General Manager Services 

Brett has completed a Bachelor of Business Degree, specialising in 
Finance, Banking and Economics. Spanning a professional career of 25 
years, Brett has extensive experience working in both the private and 
public sector in Executive level leadership positions. He is passionate 
about excellence in customer service delivery and considers positive 
organisational culture to be a critical element in its success.  Brett is 
results focused and committed to improving employment outcomes for 
those individuals with disabilities, injury or illness leading to enhanced 
levels of social and economic inclusion. 

Kylie Drage
Manager New Business and Projects

Kylie comes to Forrest Personnel with a broad base of management 
skills that has allowed her the flexibility to work across a variety of 
sectors and industries, including the private sector as well as local and 
state government. Whilst being responsible for day-to-day operations, 
she also been able to guide projects and major change initiatives to 
completion. She has backed this experience with additional post-
graduate studies completing an MBA.  She strives to bring drive, 
enthusiasm and real value to the organisations she works with.  Her 
current role allows her to combine this experience with her interest in 
strategy and innovation in the Not-For-Profit area. 

A

Bruno Dias
General Manager, Corporate Services

Bruno holds a Bachelor of Commerce Degree and a Master of 
Business Administration (MBA), both from Curtin University, and is a 
Certified Practising Accountant (CPA). Bruno has a broad commercial 
background working across mining and utilities for over 20 years. 
During this time he has worked in Ukraine, Romania, Papua New 
Guinea and Brazil. Bruno brings many skills to the General Manager 
Corporate Services role including; financial reporting, forecasting, 
analysis and cash flow management to help support Forrest 
Personnel’s organisational goals and direction. Bruno is responsible 
for the areas of Finance, Information Technology, Administration, 
Payroll and Human Resources at Forrest Personnel

A welcome to our newest executive team member
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Farewell and thank you very much!

Marion Behiels 
Director, 2015 – 2020

Marion holds a Bachelor of Education, a Diploma of Teaching, and is 
a qualified Workplace Trainer and Assessor. Marion is a passionate 
educator of more than 30 years and currently works as the Careers 
and VET Coordinator at Mackillop Catholic College in Busselton. 
Marion has also had a diverse range of teaching roles, including 
Special Needs and teaching English as a second language. These 
experiences have equipped Marion with a range of skill across broad 
sectors of the community. 

 Jenny Green 
Director, 2015 - 2020 

Jenny has been a Registered Psychologist since 1989. Jenny 
has extensive experience in working in the areas of Vocational 
Rehabilitation and Return to Work Injury Management in both 
government and private sectors. She has also provided critical 
incident counselling and employee assistance counselling to various 
companies in 

Thank you to our long-serving board members, Marion and Jenny for 
their contribution to Forrest Personnel.

The role of board members is to be visionaries, helping the organisation 
to develop and advance our mission of helping more people.

Both contributed their experience, knowledge and wisdom for which we 
are very grateful.  We wish them well in their future endeavours.
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